



ORANGE SECTION BYLAWS
AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOCIATION
CALIFORNIA CHAPTER
(Amended February 2017)

ARTICLE I: NAME AND AREA SERVED

The name of this Section of the American Planning Association shall be Orange Section of the American Planning Association. The area served by the Section shall be Orange County, California. The Section shall be a non-profit organization.

ARTICLE II: STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

The purpose of the Orange Section of the California Chapter of the American Planning Association shall be to carry out the purposes and objectives of the California Chapter of the American Planning Association, with reference to the Section area:

1. To provide an arena for communication and exchange of information among those engaged in, or interested in, planning or planning related activities;
2. To provide adequate financial resources to support Section goals and objectives;
3. To maintain liaison with California Chapter and other State Sections;
4. To provide a forum for the discussion of issues and legislation vital to the planning process;
5. To serve as a professional development resource for Section members;
6. To encourage a high degree of professionalism in the conduct of its members;
7. To provide a vehicle for maximum membership awareness and involvement in the affairs of the Association; and
8. To increase public awareness of the importance of planning.

ARTICLE III: MEMBERSHIP

1. Section Membership

Any National APA member, whose address of record, as provided by the member to the national office, is located in the Orange Section, shall automatically be a member of the Section. Section membership is terminated when a name no longer appears on the national register of members in good standing.

2. California Chapter Only Membership

“California Chapter Only” are individuals that are interested in furthering the purpose of the Chapter without joining National APA. Chapter Only members receive all Chapter and Section publications



and all other services rendered by the Orange Section of the California Chapter. Chapter Only members will not be eligible to be a member of AICP as prescribed by APA and AICP Bylaws.

ARTICLE IV: OFFICERS, BOARD AND COMMITTEES

1. The duties of the Section Board shall:
 - A. establish policies, formulate programs and provide guidance in carrying out the purposes of the Section;
 - B. adopt an annual Section budget;
 - C. receive and consider resolutions, petitions and recommendations from the members of the Section;
 - D. notify the Section members of the Section meetings and activities;
 - E. conduct correspondence of the Section;
 - F. consider and authorize the formation of subsections or functional departments within the Section; and
 - G. perform any other duties necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of the Section.

2. The Orange Section Board of Directors is composed of the following elected members who will serve a two-year term on the Board:

Elected Positions

1. Section Director
2. Section Director-Elect*
3. Vice Director for Administration and Finance
4. Vice Director for Professional Development
5. Vice Director for Programs
6. Vice Director for Public Information
7. Vice Director for Membership
8. Vice Director for AICP Certification
9. Past Section Director*(refer to Section IV4)

* This is a one year position

3. The Orange Section Appointed Positions will serve a one-year term on the Board. Appointment to each position will occur at the Annual Board retreat following the yearly election.



Appointed Positions

10. Academic Liaison
11. Legislative Liaison
12. Awards Chair
13. Web Master
14. Student Representative(s)
15. Diversity Chair (Membership Inclusion)
16. Section Historian
17. California Planning Foundation (CPF) Section Liaison
18. Young Planner's Group (YPG) Section Liaison
19. Social Media Representative
20. Executive Advisors
21. Planning Commission Representative
22. Community and Agency Outreach Liaison

4. Term of Office: Elected Positions

The term of office for elected Board members shall be two years, to be rotated beginning with the 2002 Board election. For the term beginning January 1, 2002, the Vice Directors for Programs, Membership and AICP Certification shall serve a two-year term, and beginning January 1, 2003, the Directors of Administration and Finance, Public Information, and Professional Development shall serve two-year terms. In accordance with the CCAPA bylaws, the Section Director will serve a two-year term and will serve on the same cycle as the Vice Directors of Programs, AICP Certification, and Membership, which will be even-numbered years. The term for the Past Section Director shall be for six (6) months from the date that the newly elected Section Director assumes office. Beginning January 1, 2011, the term for the Section Director-Elect shall be for one year and shall be elected in the same election cycle as the Vice Directors of Administration and Finance, Public Information, and Professional Development. The Section Director-Elect shall become the Section Director automatically following a one-year term as Section Director-Elect.

5. Term of Office: Appointed Positions

At the first meeting in January following the installation of the newly elected positions, the Section Director shall provide recommendations to the elected Board of Directors for appointment to the appointed positions. The appointed positions serve one (1) year terms.



6. Vacancies

The Section Director shall provide recommendations to the Section Board to temporarily fill vacancies of Section Officers occurring during the term of office. Officers so appointed shall serve the unexpired terms of their predecessor in office. In the event that a vacancy occurs in the Section Director position, the Section Director-Elect assumes the Director's position for the remainder of the term. In the event there is not a Section Director-Elect, the Board shall nominate an Acting Section Director until a Section Director is elected to the position at the next election. The Acting Section Director shall be selected from the elected Board members. The Acting Section Director would normally qualify for the position with one (1) year experience as a Board member. The Acting Section Director shall have duties as are assigned to him or her in the Section Director duties. In the event of an extended absence or disability of the Section Director, the Section Board may authorize the Section Director-Elect or in the absence of a Section Director-Elect during even years, the Acting Section Director to act as Section Director for the duration of the absence or disability. In the event no one is elected to a particular position on the Section Board, the Section Director shall, within thirty (30) days of the Section election results, provide a recommendation of a member to the Board to fill the position.

7. Non-Performance of Officers

Any Director (appointed or elected) may be removed from office for non-performance upon a motion adopted by two-thirds (2/3) of the Section Board. A motion will require that:

- A. The grounds for non-performance must be submitted to the Board. These may include non-attendance at four (4) or more Board meetings in one year, failure to execute adopted programs and duties, including legal liability for the Section based on dilatory performance of duties, or other criteria that may be added to this Subsection.
- B. Due process for elected directors will require at least two consecutive Board meetings to conclude a motion; the first for the making of the motion and a submission of grounds; and the second to consider submission of the response by the director charged and to allow the Board to then sustain or deny the motion. Appointed directors serve at the pleasure of the Board and require only one Board meeting to conclude a motion.

ARTICLE V: APPOINTED POSITIONS

All appointed positions shall be in good standing with APA and the Chapter. Each applicant must agree to the duties associated with the position and provide a written statement to be considered to the Board indicating the reasons why the applicant wants to be appointed to the position. The Director shall make a recommendation to the Board regarding the appointed position and the Board must approve the recommendation by a majority vote. If there is more than one applicant, the Director shall still make a recommendation to the Board, but a Board member has the option to vote for another applicant.

For Student Representative, the appointment process shall be initiated in the April/May/June eblast. The Section Director will request a statement from interested student candidates that will be included in the



June/July/August eblast. The student appointment process shall conclude August 1 and the Board appointed Student Representative begins a one (1) year term of office starting on September 1.

ARTICLE VI: ELECTIONS

1. Nominations of Elected Positions

The following election information applies to all elected positions. An Election Committee of not less than three (3) Section members, not seeking an elected position, shall be appointed by the Section Director prior at the regularly scheduled September board meeting. The Election Committee shall review all nomination petitions submitted by candidates running for office to verify Section membership.

Any Section member, including incumbent Board members seeking positioner-election, shall submit the following:

- a) A nominating petition containing a minimum of two (2) signatures of Section members in good standing
- b) Identification of the specific position being sought.
- c) A complete nomination petition including the candidate’s name, address of membership, telephone number and e-mail address,
- d) A candidate’s statement not exceeding one (1) page in length, 8 ½ x 11”, double-spaced typed.

Said petition and candidate statement shall be submitted to the Election Committee on or prior to November 15 of each year. Candidates running for Section Director-Elect shall have previously served on the Section Board for at least one (1) year. The Election Committee shall submit all eligible candidates meeting the qualifications for inclusion on the election ballot. For those positions without candidates, the Board shall submit candidates’ names that are considered a “write-in.” “Write-in” candidates shall only be considered if they meet the criteria outlined in item (6). The Election Committee shall tally all votes received. The votes submitted for consideration must be made by members in good standing and validated by the Election Committee.

Elections shall be commenced by Section balloting prior to December 1 each year.

Summary of election schedule:

- September: Election Committee formed and begins receiving nominating petitions.
- November 15: Deadline for submission of nomination petitions and candidates’ statements.
- December 15: Final date for Section members to return ballots to the Tally Committee.
- January 1: New Board assumes office.



2. Eligibility to Vote

Those eligible to vote in elections for Section Officers shall be Members in good standing of the Section.

3. Voting Procedure:

Voting for Section Officers shall be by secret ballot via electronic voting. Ballots shall be submitted electronically. Write-in candidates shall be considered if they are members in good standing in accordance with item VI6.

5. Election Results

The candidates receiving the largest number of qualified votes shall be declared elected. The results of the vote shall be published and all candidates notified of the results prior to December 31 each year.

6. Write-in Candidates

All write-in positions shall be in good standing with APA and the Chapter. Each candidate must agree to the duties associated with the position and provide a written statement to be considered by the Board indicating the reasons why the applicant wants to be elected to the position. The Director shall make a recommendation to the Board regarding the write-in candidate and the Board must approve the recommendation by a majority vote. If there is more than one candidate, the Director shall still make a recommendation to the Board, but a Board member has the option to vote for another candidate.

ARTICLE VII: CONDUCT OF SECTION BUSINESS

1. Meetings

The Section Director may call such meetings as deemed desirable to carry out the purposes and objectives of the Section.

2. Board Quorum

A majority of the Board constitutes a quorum for the purposes of transacting business at a meeting of the Board.

3. Record Retention

Records shall be retained at a minimum of 4 years by each board member. Records retained include documents such as financial reports, program surveys and professional development information, etc.

ARTICLE VIII: SECTION FINANCES

1. Financial Status

The Section is a non-profit organization.



2. Requests for financial support/contributions which are presented to the Orange Section require an affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Section Board. The criteria to determine if an allocation is appropriate includes the following:
 - a) A budgetary line item shall exist under the Section's operating budget for financial support/contributions.
 - b) The recipient shall provide the Orange Section Board with detailed information pertaining to the activity in which a contribution would be utilized.
 - c) The activity of the recipient shall be in accordance with the Section's objectives as described in Article II, Statement of Purposes, contained in the Orange Section Bylaws.

Note: Additional requirements of the recipient, such as a newsletter article or recognition of the Orange Section as a sponsor of the activity, is at the discretion of Section Board of Directors, on a case-by-case basis.

3. The Section's budget must be formatted similar to the CCAPA budget with respect to line items, names and numbers.
4. For expenditures over \$500, the Section Board must approve the amount prior to releasing funds to the Board member. For all other expenditures, the Board member must submit a check request form with back-up documentation (e.g., receipt) to either the Finance Director or Section Director for reimbursement. All expenditures shall be in accordance with the adopted budget for the Orange Section.
5. The Awards Budget must be approved by the Orange Section Board.
6. The Section's quarterly and year-end financial reports are due to CCAPA pursuant to the CCAPA's reporting schedule.
7. Investment Policy Guidelines

Investment for the Orange Section shall be separated into three tiers, which are as follows:

Primary Reserves: These reserves shall be invested in liquid accounts such as money markets or other short-term investments. A checkbook access to the money market account is needed. These investments will be used for day-to-day activities over a one-year period.

Secondary Reserves: These reserves shall be invested in short-term and intermediate-term bonds with yields being paid to the primary reserves. These dollars will be invested over a one- to five-year period.

Growth: These reserves are defined as those dollars that are not anticipated to be used for five years. These dollars may be invested in equities such as large capital value and growth stocks, small/mid capital value and growth stocks and international stocks. The portfolio should be designed to meet moderate risk for a five-year period.



ARTICLE IX: INITIATIVE AND REFERENDUM

1. Upon the receipt of a petition signed by not less than ten percent (10%) of the members of the Section eligible to vote, the Board shall cause any initiative or referendum measure pertaining to bylaws to be placed on the ballot used for election of Officers, and be voted upon by mail or electronic ballot in accordance with the procedures set forth in these bylaws for the election of Section Officers. A majority of those voting, regardless of number, will determine the issue.

ARTICLE X: ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

1. Adoption

Adoption of these bylaws shall be by a two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote of the Section Board.

2. Comprehensive Amendment

Upon authorization of the majority of the Board, or upon petition of ten percent (10%) of the members of the Section, any proposed comprehensive amendment to these bylaws shall include the following:

- a) Vote by the Board (or membership if petitioned): The proposed Comprehensive Bylaws Amendment shall be placed on the Agenda for a vote by the Board (or membership). No more than fifty (50) days or one (1) Board meeting shall be allowed from the date placing the vote for amendment on the Monthly Agenda to the final vote of the Board.
- b) Written Notification to Section Membership and to the State Board: An affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of the Board will result in the written notification to the Section Membership of the proposed Comprehensive Bylaws Amendment by the Section Director. A copy of the draft Comprehensive Bylaws Amendment should be forwarded to the California Chapter Executive Director for informational purposes.
- c) Review of proposed Bylaws Amendment with membership input: The Section Membership will have 30 days to review the changes made to the Bylaws. Any comments received by the Section Director during this review period shall be considered by the Board prior to taking final action. The comprehensive changes will also be posted on the website during this 30-day review period.
- d) Final Adoption of the Comprehensive Bylaws Amendment requires affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of the Board.

Final approved Section Bylaws and Section amended Bylaws shall be forwarded to the APA California Chapter Executive Director for filing in the Chapter office.

3. Technical Amendments

Technical amendments to the bylaws shall require the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Board. Unless otherwise specified, the amendment shall become effective as of the affirmative vote.



4. A revision of the Bylaws shall occur every five (5) years, or as necessary.

ARTICLE XI: DUTIES OF THE SECTION OFFICERS AND SECTION BOARD

1. Section Director

The duties of the Section Director shall be:

- A. To represent and report on Section concerns, issues and activities to the California Chapter Board.
- B. To oversee, monitor and assist with the administration requirements associated with the Orange Section's annual and operating budget.
- C. To communicate California Chapter activities and issues to the Section Board through meetings, memoranda and reports.
- D. To communicate pertinent chapter issues to the Section membership.
- E. To represent the Section in formal correspondence, transmittals and public events.
- F. To coordinate and advise Board members on activities and issues associated with their portfolio.
- G. To recommend an elected Board member for appointment as the Section Director Pro-Tem to serve as Director in his or her temporary or permanent absence, when there is not an elected Section Director-Elect.
- H. To serve as liaison to other California Chapter sections and organizations.
- I. To coordinate and preside over the monthly Section Board meetings.
- J. To initiate the election proceedings, beginning with the formation of an elections committee and development of a vote tally committee.
- K. To provide recommendations to the Section Board of Directors to fill vacancies for elected and appointed positions.
- L. To preside over the Section's annual retreat.
- M. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.
- N. Appoint Section committees whose chairpersons and members would ordinarily be expected to serve the same term as the Section Director.
- O. Oversee the annual Section nomination for the Planners Emeritus Network award.
- P. To serve as liaison to the Section's Executive Advisors.



2. *Section Director-Elect (aka Pro-Tem)*

- A. To be a Member with a vote on the Section Board of Directors during his or her term.
- B. In the absence of the Section Director, preside at all meetings and represent the Section.
- C. To assist Section Director on issues affecting the membership.
- D. To undertake and seek other assignments as the Board and Director may find mutually agreeable.

3. *Vice Director for Administration and Finance*

The duties of the Vice Director for Administration and Finance shall be:

- A. To take the Section Board minutes and to assemble and distribute the minutes to the Section Board members.
- B. To facilitate the preparation of the Section's annual operating budget for review and adoption and to monitor the Section's finances, in accordance with the California Chapter requirements.
- C. To provide financial reports at each of the Section monthly Board meetings.
- D. To provide quarterly financial reports to California Chapter in accordance with the California Chapter requirements.
- E. To disburse Section funds in accordance with Article VIII of the bylaws.
- F. To monitor attendance and collection of funds at Section programs and events.
- G. To provide periodic updates and/or articles to members through the website or other social media pertaining to financial activities in the Section.
- H. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.
- I. Receive and be held responsible for all funds, dues or assessments, and records of the Section.
- J. Submit quarterly financial reports, including an end-of-the-year financial report, to the Chapter to be added to the Chapter tax returns and kept on file in the Chapter offices.

4. *Vice Director for Professional Development*

The duties of the Vice Director for Professional Development shall be:

- A. To oversee, administer and comply with the adopted Professional Development Program budget.



- B. To organize an OCAPA Professional Development program.
- C. To develop quarterly seminars which address professional development of the Section membership.
- D. To coordinate sponsorship activities to offset the costs of professional development activities, as deemed appropriate by the board.
- E. To coordinate Section professional development activities with California Chapter representatives and sections.
- F. On an as needed basis, contribute a quarterly article to the website and/or social media pertaining to the Section's Professional Development activities.
- G. To develop and promote a student mentor program in coordination with the Section's Academic Liaison and Student Representative.
- H. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.
- I. To coordinate directly with the California Chapter Workshop Representative to facilitate California Chapter programming, such as the annual Legislative Update program.

5. *Vice Director for Programs*

- A. To oversee, administer and comply with the adopted Programs budget.
- B. To develop and coordinate a regularly scheduled monthly program, including advertising future activities and contribute on an as needed basis to the website and social media pertaining to the Section's Program activities.
- C. To preside over the monthly program activities and to oversee the administrative functions, including registration list, name tags and certificates of appreciation to be provided to the guest speakers.
- D. To recruit and coordinate the activities of the Program's Steering Committee.
- E. To devise and carry out program activities which extends to all geographic areas of the County and reflects the professional and academic interests of the Orange County Section membership.
- F. To contact other professional organizations in Orange County to explore joint participation in Programming activities.
- G. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.



6. *Vice Director for Public Information*

The duties of the Vice Director for Public Information shall be:

- A. To oversee, administer and comply with the adopted Public Information budget.
- B. To provide pertinent section activities information to other organizations and the news media, as directed by the Board.
- C. To arrange for the preparation, editing, publishing and distribution of the Section newsletter and coordinate newsletter information with the Web Master for posting on the website.
- D. To coordinate and publish articles from each Board member on a quarterly basis.
- E. To maintain the website and social media outreach as a valued resource by providing topical information, and articles of interest pertaining to topics pertinent to the County of Orange
- F. To work with the Vice Director for Finance and Administration to continue the online ad program and job advertisements placed in the on the Orange Section website.
- G. To coordinate OCAPA Public Information activities with California Chapter representatives and sections as directed by the Board.
- H. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.
- I. To ensure an effective transition to the incoming board member, a draft of the first quarter issue shall be prepared and ready for distribution by the outgoing board member.

7. *Vice Director for Membership*

- A. To oversee, administer and comply with the adopted Membership activities budget.
- B. To promote APA membership to prospective members and promote the importance of recruiting, supporting, and retaining in the profession planners that represent the community's diversity; to welcome new members and transferees; and to help resolve membership problems.
- C. To develop and maintain a current membership roster and e-mail list.
- D. To develop and implement outreach and recruitment programs.
- E. To appoint an annual section Awards "chair" for the annual section Awards Program.
- F. To assist the Awards program chair in recruiting and coordinating the activities of the Awards Steering Committee.
- G. To assist in conducting sponsorship activities to offset the costs of the Awards program.



- H. To develop a work program and schedule in conjunction with the Awards chair for the Awards program.
- I. To assist in coordinating membership and Section Awards activities with California Chapter representatives and sections.
- J. Produce flyers/documents/advertisements for the recruitment of new members.
- K. Collaborate with other APA California Board members regarding membership inclusion including attending periodic meetings with Section Membership Inclusion Directors. Amend to allow for Diversity Chair to participate in Membership Inclusion meetings and calls
- L. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.

8. *Vice Director for AICP Certification*

The Vice Director for AICP Certification must be AICP certified in order to seek the position. The duties of the Vice Director for AICP Certification shall be:

- A. To oversee and administer the AICP Certification budget.
- B. To coordinate with the Vice Director of Professional Development and Vice Director of Programs to develop AICP activities, including programs approved for Continued Maintenance (CM). To coordinate and counsel members seeking information and/or applying to take the AICP exam.
- C. To coordinate workshops and/or training programs for members preparing to take the AICP exam.
- D. To coordinate AICP Certification activities on an as-needed basis with California Chapter representatives and sections.
- E. To coordinate website with the Vice Director for Public Information and Web Master to inform members about AICP Certification and maintenance activities.
- F. To develop a recognition program for Section members that have passed the AICP examination.
- G. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.

9. *Past Section Director*

The duties of the Past Section Director shall be:



- A. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.
- B. To assist the incoming Section Board on an as-needed basis
- C. To undertake and seek other assignments on an as-needed basis mutually agreeable to the Board and Past Director.

10. *Academic Liaison*

The Academic Liaison is an appointed position selected by the Section Board of Directors. The Academic Liaison position must be held by a faculty member in urban and regional planning or a related field teaching and/or residing in Orange County. Responsibilities for the Academic Liaison shall be:

- A. To represent academic planning interests and concerns to the Section Board of Directors and its membership.
- B. To serve as a liaison between the Section Board, academics and students in planning and related fields among the major universities in Orange County and adjacent counties.
- C. To actively recruit academic participation and membership in the Orange Section.
- D. To chair the student scholarship program.
- E. To assist the Vice Director for Professional Development to implement a student mentor program.
- F. To contribute periodic articles to the website and social media sites pertaining to issues of interest.
- G. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.

11. *Legislative Liaison*

The Legislative Liaison is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Legislative Liaison shall be:

- A. To serve as the Section legislative liaison to the California Chapter.
- B. To participate in the California Chapter Legislative Review Team activities.
- C. To report on legislative activities to the Section Board of Directors and its members.
- D. To contribute periodic articles to the website and social media sites pertaining to legislative activities.
- E. To coordinate with the Professional Development officer regarding legislative workshop.



- F. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.

12. Awards Chair

The Awards Chair is an appointed position selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Awards Chair shall be:

- A. To develop a work program and Awards program schedule in conjunction with the Vice Director of Membership for the annual section Awards program.
- B. To recruit Committee members and coordinate the activities of the Awards Steering Committee.
- C. To conduct sponsorship activities to offset the costs of the Awards program.
- D. To coordinate Section Awards activities with California Chapter representatives and sections.
- E. To coordinate a quarterly article to the website and social media site pertaining to the Section's Awards activities.
- F. To explore other avenues to obtain award application submittals.

13. Web Master

The Web Master is an appointed position selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Web Master shall be:

- A. To oversee, administer, develop, maintain and update the Section's website.
- B. To coordinate materials from other Board members for inclusion on the website.
- C. To update the website on a regular and timely basis to ensure that time sensitive information is available for viewing as soon as feasible.
- D. To retrieve and respond to E-mail via the website and distribute appropriately to the Board members.
- E. To develop, maintain and update appropriate links to other APA related websites, including CCAPA, APA, other local sections, planning organizations, cities and firms engaged in activities that support the Purposes of the Section.
- F. To provide a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as website access, training, administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.
- G. To maintain a current calendar of Section events on the website.



14. *Student Representative*

The Student Representative is an appointed position consisting of a one (1) year term. The Student Representative must be currently enrolled in a Planning curriculum or similar discipline. The duties of the Student Representative shall be:

- A. To advise the Section Board concerning student affairs.
- B. To promote an efficient communication network between planning students and the Section, including awareness of upcoming programs and events.
- C. To improve student/professional interaction at Section programs and activities.
- D. To actively recruit new student membership in the Orange Section.
- E. To coordinate Section student activities with California Chapter representatives and sections.
- F. To actively solicit student contributions of quarterly articles to the website and social media.
- G. To assist the Vice Director for Professional Development to implement a student mentor program.
- H. Represent the Section and planning students at official functions.
- I. Maintain liaison with planning schools and their students.
- J. Assist the Section Director in the student representative appointment process.
- K. Provide liaison between the Chapter Student Representative, the Student Representative Council, and the students.
- L. Perform all other duties required of a member of the Section Board.
- M. To effect a smooth transition to the incoming administration, including such items as administrative information, activity logs, electronic files, a memorandum of procedures, references and other materials.

15. *Diversity Chair (Membership Inclusion)*

The Diversity Chair is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Diversity Chair shall be to:

- A. To promote cultural awareness and diversity in the planning profession to the membership by encouraging professional planners to advocate for equity, reform, and justice throughout the entire community including but not limited to culture, sexual orientation, disability, age, income or class, ethnicity and/or gender.
- B. Facilitate a Diversity Summit with the host Conference Committee, an inclusionary session and a meeting of the Planning Diversity Ambassadors at the State conference.



- C. Promote and encourage diversity of APA membership throughout the Orange Section.
- B. Participate in the Chapter Membership Inclusion conference calls.
- C. Collaborate with Chapter Membership Inclusion Officers to organize and participate in the yearly diversity summit at the State Conference.
- D. Expand and reach out to community minority groups to promote planning for diversity and continuing participation in the public planning process;
- E. Educate members on how to better serve diverse communities;
- F. Provide information and resources to community minority groups about planning career paths.
- G. Assist the Young Planners Group Section Liaison(s) to increase young professional participation in APA programs and events.

16. *Section Historian.*

The Section Historian is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The mission is to promote the importance of history as it relates to Urban Planning, Urban Design and Historic Preservation. The responsibilities of the Section Historian shall be:

- A. Organize and execute an Annual Historical Symposium.
- B. Provide relevant articles for Orange Section publications as needed.
- C. Act as a liaison with historians from other Sections of the California Chapter of the American Planning Association
- D. Support the Historian(s) of the California Chapter of the American Planning Association, as needed.
- E. Promote the Historian's mission through the APA Ambassador Program.

17. *California Planning Foundation (CPF) Section Liaison*

The CPF Section Liaison is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the CPF Section Liaison shall be to:

- A. Provide information to scholarship applicants in the Section.
- B. Provide information to section members regarding CPF professional development workshops.
- C. Coordinate of the Section's "Section Challenge" donation for the CPF Scholarship Auction during the APACA fall conference.



- D. Help secure donations for auction beyond Section Challenge.
- E. Participate in regular conference calls.
- F. Use existing Section resources to promote awareness of CPF.

18. *Young Planner's Group (YPG) Section Liaison*

The YPG Section Liaison is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the YPG Section Liaison shall be to:

- A. *Provide updates on YPG activities to the monthly APA Section Board.*
- B. *Coordinate on outreach through the APA Section website and social media.*

19. *Social Media Representative*

The Social Media Representative is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Social Media Representative shall be to:

- A. *Provide regular updates on an as needed basis to promote Orange Section events, meetings, and other information for Orange Section on the Section's Facebook, Twitter and Instagram or other social media accounts.*
- B. *Provide regular support and backup to the web master in updating the website*

20. *Executive Advisors*

The Executive Advisors are appointed positions, who serve in an advisory capacity to the Orange Section Board in respect to its policies and programs. Advisors may also serve in the following ways:

- A. Mentors to students and young professionals.
- B. Judges for the Section's annual awards competition.
- C. Speakers, Moderators or Resources for the Section's professional development programs.
- D. Historians for past Orange Section activities.
- E. Provide individual perspective to Orange Section Board on specific topics, as needed. Consultation or concurrence with other advisors is not required.

21. *Planning Commission Representative*

The Planning Commission Representative is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Planning Commission Representative shall be to:

- A. Provide regular correspondence and updates to Orange County Planning Commissioners on behalf of the APA Orange Section.

22. *Community and Agency Outreach Liaison*



The Community and Agency Outreach Liaison is an appointed position, selected by the Orange Section Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Community and Agency Outreach Liaison shall be to:

- A. Coordinate with Section Board members to communicate and provide outreach to external community organizations and agencies